Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-22-2008

Goodman Oil Co. v. Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 34284

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case.

Goodman Oil Company ("Appellant") is appealing the dismissal of Respondents Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc., and Bart and Alane McKnight ("Respondents") as defendants in a writ of mandate and judicial review proceeding brought by the Appellant against the City of Nampa.

Appellant contends that Respondents breached an agreement to vacate First Avenue South in Nampa, Idaho, when Respondents revoked their agreement to the vacation and communicated such revocation to the Nampa City Mayor. The Nampa City Mayor subsequently attempted to retroactively veto the ordinance vacating First Avenue South that had already been passed by the Nampa City Council. Appellant sought a writ of mandate against the City of Nampa and the Nampa City Mayor to force the City of Nampa to enact the vacation ordinance. Appellant did obtain a writ of mandate forcing the City of Nampa to vacate First Avenue South, however, the district court dismissed Appellant's claims against Respondents.

2. Relevant Proceedings Below.

Appellant filed its Petition for Writ of Mandate and Petition for Judicial Review under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 84 on October 5, 2004. Included as defendants in those actions were the Respondents. On October 21, 2004, the Respondents moved to be dismissed from the case on the basis that neither the Writ of Mandate nor the Petition for Judicial Review stated a cause of action against Respondents. In response, the Appellant

made two motions to amend its action to include actions for breach of contract and tortious interference with contract against Respondents. On June 29, 2005, the district court denied Appellant's Motions to Amend and granted Respondents' Motion to Dismiss.

The case against the City and Mayor of Nampa, however, continued. The Appellant prevailed in its Petition for Writ of Mandate and the district court issued the writ commanding the City of Nampa to vacate First Avenue South on July 20, 2005. The court issued its Memorandum Decision on Judicial Review and Order regarding Appellant's Petition for Judicial review on November 7, 2006. This order corrected the ordinance vacating First Avenue South and remanded to the City of Nampa the issue of whether other factors concerning the "public good" existed as to why vacate First Avenue South had been vacated. The City of Nampa issued on January 25, 2007, its Notice of Public Hearing, which scheduled a public hearing for February 5, 2007, to consider whether First Street South in Nampa was to be vacated.

In reaction, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration and Clarification, Motion for Preliminary Injunction, and Motion to Shorten Time on January 29, 2007. The Appellant claimed that the City of Nampa was violating the district court's Order of November 7, 2006, by deciding to hold a new public hearing on whether to vacate First Avenue South and claimed that the November 7, 2006, Order of the court was improper in its ambiguous remand of the case back to the City of Nampa.

The district court issued on April 26, 2007, an order, which granted in part Appellant's Motion for Clarification that specifically limited the scope of the remand to the City of Nampa to the issue of only what the public good was that supported the

vacation of First Avenue South. The Appellant and the City of Nampa subsequently settled all issues between them. However, Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal against the dismissal of Respondents on June 6, 2007, which was refilled on January 1, 2008, under order from this Court to account for the fact the Appellant had settled with the City of Nampa.

After the appeal was filed, the Respondents moved pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rule 32 for involuntary dismissal under the theory that Appellant's Notice of Appeal was late. The Respondents asserted in their motion that the November 7, 2006, Order was the final order from which the time for appeal ran. The Respondents failed to inform the Court in its motion about the four months of litigation that occurred after the November 7, 2006, Order and failed to tell the Court about the April 26, 2007, order. On February 11, 2008, this Court granted the motion to dismiss in part and stated only issues related to the April 26, 2007, Order could be appealed. The Appellant made a Motion for Reconsideration, arguing that this Court's order splitting a continuous case for purposes of appeal violated the basic tenets of civil procedure and had no basis in law. This Court granted Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration and this appeal went forward.

3. Factual Background.

This dispute arises out of proceedings to vacate the public right-of-way of First Avenue South located between Blocks 16 and 19 of the City of Nampa, Canyon County, Idaho.

On August 2, 1995, Appellant entered into a contract with Respondents, the Blamires Family Trust, and T.J. Forest, Inc. (other adjacent property owners). The

contract is entitled Property Owner Street Vacation Agreement (hereafter "Vacation Agreement"). See R., p. 21. In the Vacation Agreement, the parties exchanged mutual promises consenting to the City of Nampa's vacation of First Avenue South as public right-of-way. Also pursuant to the Vacation Agreement, the parties granted and conveyed among themselves a perpetual easement upon the vacated property for the purpose of access to and from their property. The parties also agreed to fully cooperate to ensure that the purpose and intent of the Vacation Agreement was accomplished and to equally share in the maintenance of the easement in proportion to the amount of property they owned which adjoins First Avenue South.

On August 3, 1995, Appellant submitted an application to the City for vacation of First Avenue South. On September 5, 1995, a public hearing was held and the Nampa City Council (the "Council") approved the vacation of First Avenue South between 2nd Street South and 3rd Street South. See R., p. 27. On September 18, 1995, the first reading of the Ordinance vacating First Avenue South was completed by the Council. On October 2, 1995, the second reading of the Ordinance was completed by the Council. On October 16, 1995, the third reading of the Ordinance was tabled by the Council because the necessary approval by the Nampa Fire Department had not yet been obtained.

Between 1995 and 2004, Appellant had offers and contracts to sell its real property adjacent to First Avenue South. In 1999 and 2001, Appellant inquired of the City regarding the status of the vacation of First Avenue South. The Planning Director for the City of Nampa confirmed that the vacation of First Avenue South between 2nd Street South and 3rd Street South had been approved by the Council on September 5, 1995.

The vacation application never lapsed during the time period between Appellant's initial application and its final approval, indeed it was a subject of continual inquiry and review by Appellant and the City of Nampa.

In July, 2004, Appellant and Mr. James R. Wylie (Wylie) signed a Purchase and Sale Agreement whereby Appellant agreed to sell its property adjacent to First Avenue South to Wylie. The sale price was Six Hundred Thousand (\$600,000) Dollars to be paid in cash at closing. The sale was contingent upon the City of Nampa completing the vacation of First Avenue South. Appellant contends that both Brad Blamires and Respondents had knowledge of this transaction and knowledge that the transaction was contingent on the successful vacation of First Avenue South.

On August 4, 2004, the Nampa Fire Department provided written conditional approval of development plans for the vacated property and the property owned by Appellant. The Nampa Fire Department approved the vacation of First Avenue South subject to a dedicated twenty (20) foot wide fire apparatus access road. R., p. 30.

The vacation of First Avenue South was then presented to the Council for passage. On August 16, 2004, the vacation ordinance ("Ordinance #3374") was approved by the Council and the Mayor. R., p. 31. Yet the Ordinance approved by the City Council reserved a fifty (50) foot easement instead of a twenty (20) foot easement recommended by the Nampa Fire Department. On the same day, the Mayor signed Ordinance #3374 and the City Clerk attested his signature. At that Council meeting, the Mayor declared Ordinance #3374 passed and directed the City Clerk to record it as required by law. The Mayor then relinquished possession and control of the approved Ordinance to the City Clerk.

On or about August 17, 2004, the City Clerk delivered Ordinance No. 3374 to the Idaho Press Tribune with instructions that the Ordinance be published on August 23, 2004. However, sometime after August 17, 2004, but prior to August 23, 2004, the City Clerk contacted the Idaho Press Tribune and cancelled the request to publish Ordinance #3374. On September 2nd, Mayor Tom Dale vetoed Ordinance #3374.

After the Ordinance was passed, Respondent Bart McKnight, President of Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc., made contact with the Mayor and the Nampa City Attorney, Mr. White, to voice Respondent Duro-Bilt's objections to the Ordinance. Through these *ex parte* contacts, Mr. McKnight was able to cause Ordinance # 3374, which had already been passed, to be vetoed.¹

Respondent McKnight's efforts to interdict Ordinance #3374 began with speaking with a Nampa City Clerk and telling the City Clerk he no longer consented to the vacation of First Avenue South and wished to prevent Ordinance #3374 from going into effect. The City Clerk directed Respondent McKnight to call the City Attorney, Mr. White. Respondent McKnight called the City Attorney that same day and voiced his objections to Ordinance #3374. Respondent McKnight stated at his deposition that Mr. White advised McKnight that, "they could withdraw this if I talked to the mayor." Respondent McKnight then, again that same day, called Nampa City Hall, spoke to Mayor Dale, and explained his objection to the vacation. Mayor Dale agreed to veto Ordinance #3374. Respondent McKnight specifically recalled this exchange in his

It should be noted, Respondent McKnight's objection to Ordinance No. 3374 was aided by the fact he is a friend of Mayor Dale. Respondent McKnight and the Mayor have participated in various civic activities and events together. The Mayor has taught Mr. McKnight's children. McKnight and the Mayor have mutual friends, specifically the Nampa City Counsel member Mr. Martin Thorne. Mr. McKnight and the Mayor went on a ski trip together to Sun Valley in March of 2004. The Mayor Dales himself has described Bart McKnight as a friend.

deposition testimony: "I asked him [the Mayor] if there was a way to pull this off of being published, and he said, 'Yes, I can veto it."

Once learning of Mayor Dale's veto, the Appellant immediately wrote to the Mayor on September 3rd and the Council in an effort to save the transaction with Wylie. Appellant later argued to the Mayor and Nampa City Council at the September 20, 2004, City Council meeting that the Mayor did not have authority to veto Ordinance #3374 after he had fully approved the Ordinance. Appellant told the Mayor and Council that it would file a Petition for Writ of Mandate if the City refused to amend and publish Ordinance No. #3374. However, the Mayor and Council refused to override the Mayor's veto and publish Ordinance #3374. As a result, Goodman's transaction with Wylie failed.

Goodman subsequently filed its Petition for Writ of Mandate and Petition for Judicial Review.

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The Notice of Appeal in that case raises the following issues:

- a. Whether the district court erred in dismissing Respondents as a defendant;
- Whether the District Court erred in denying Appellant's Motion to Amend its Petition for Writ of Mandate to include causes of action against Respondents; and,

c. Whether Appellant is entitled to an award of costs and attorney's fees as a result of this appeal.

III.

APPLICABLE STANDARDS

This case comes to the Court on review of an order granting the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim. The Court's standard of review for an order of the district court dismissing a case pursuant to I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) is the same as the summary judgment standard of review. See Coghlan v. Beta Theta Pi Fraternity, 133 Idaho 388, 398, 987 P.2d 300, 310 (1999); see also Orthman v. Idaho Power Co., 126 Idaho 960, 962, 895 P.2d 561, 563 (1995). After viewing all facts and inferences from the record in favor of the non-moving party, the Court will ask whether a claim for relief has been stated. Coghlan, 133 Idaho at 398, 987 P.2d at 310. "The issue is not whether the plaintiff will ultimately prevail, but whether the party is 'entitled to offer evidence to support the claims.' "Id., citing Orthman 126 Idaho at 962, 895 P.2d at 563, quoting Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236, 94 S.Ct. 1683, 1686, 40 L.Ed.2d 90, 96 (1974) (citation omitted).

"The denial of a plaintiff's motion to amend a complaint to add another cause of action is governed by an abuse of discretion standard of review." Estate of Becker v. Callahan, 140 Idaho 522, 527, 96 P.3d 623, 628 (2004) (quoting Thomas v. Medical Center Physicians, P.A., 138 Idaho 200, 210, 61 P.3d 557, 567 (2002)). An "abuse of discretion" standard requires this Court to inquire as to:

(1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer

boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and, (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason.

Sun Valley Shopping Center, Inc. v. Idaho Power Co., 119 Idaho 87, 94, 803 P.2d 993, 1000 (1991).

IV.

THE RESPONDENTS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISMISSED

Respondents asserted that they should be dismissed as a party/respondent before the district court because the Appellant did not seek any remedy against them; and thus, Appellant's action against Respondents could not succeed under any set of facts. The District Court agreed and under I.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) dismissed the Respondents from the case. See R., pp. 82-84.

Appellant contends that this was error because Respondents were indispensable parties to the lawsuit. I.R.C.P. 19(a)(1) provides that a party shall be joined if:

(1) in the person's absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or (2) the person claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in the person's absence may (i) as a practical matter impair or impede the person's ability to protect that interest or (ii) leave any of the persons already parties subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations by reason of the claimed interest.

See I.R.C.P. 19(a)(1)(emphasis added).

The Idaho Supreme Court has stated, "Whether or not a party is indispensable to an action depends largely upon the relief sought." *Barlow v. International Harvester Co.*, 95 Idaho 881, 896, 522 P.2d 1102, 1117 (1974). In *Deer Creek, Inc. v. Clarendon Hot*

Springs Ranch, Inc., 107 Idaho 286, 292, 688 P.2d 1191, 1197 (Ct. App. 1984), the Idaho Court of Appeals listed three purposes behind Rule 19: to protect the absentee from prejudice resulting from the judgment, to protect the parties from harassment by successive suits and to advance judicial economy.

Respondents are clearly an indispensable party. Respondents are an adjoining First Avenue South property owner. If Appellant were successful in obtaining a Writ of Mandate causing Ordinance #3374 to be published, then First Avenue South would have been vacated (and indeed was). Respondents' property would have then by way of I.C. § 50-311 accreted one-half the vacated property (and indeed did). Respondents' lot adjoining First Avenue South consists of 2,800 square feet. Respondents' lot increased in size by an additional 2,000 square feet upon vacation of the street. Without question, Respondents had an interest in the subject matter of the action that necessitated its participation in order for that interest to be protected.

Further, Ordinance #3374 reserved what was determined by the district court to be an inappropriate fifty (50) foot wide access and utility easement. See R., pp at 108-109. The easement encumbered the west side of the vacated property. The west side is the Respondents' side. Respondents also had an interest in either preserving its existing access and utility easements or participating in revising the description of the access and utility easements as reserved in the ordinance. Again, Respondents had an interest in the subject matter of the action that necessitated its participation in order for that interest to be protected.

This case also presented issues concerning Respondents' ex parte contacts with Mayor Dale following approval of the Ordinance #3374. Mayor Dale's "veto" of

Ordinance #3374 and the basis of this whole action is the direct result of Respondents' belated objection to the vacation of First Avenue South. *See* Reporter's Transcript of July 15, 2005, hearing, p. 39, lns. 9-13. Respondents' role in the case went beyond being mere witnesses to being involved parties to the case. The Respondents instigated the decision by the City of Nampa and its mayor to engage in unlawful conduct at the expense of Appellant. Respondents were the ones ultimately responsible for Appellant filing its Petition for Writ of Mandate and Petition for Judicial review. The Respondents were necessary and indispensable parties, and the district court was in error to summarily dismiss them.

V.

APPELLANT SHOULD HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO AMEND ITS CAUSES OF ACTION

As this Court knows, after a responsive pleading has been served "a party may amend a pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires" *I.R.C.P. 15(a)*. In *Family Trust v. Christensen*, 133 Idaho 866, 993 P.2d 1197 (1999), the Idaho Supreme Court summarized the standard for amendment of pleadings:

In the absence of any apparent or declared reason—such as undue delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by amendment previously allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue of allowance of the amendment, futility of amendment, etc.—the leave sought should, as the rules require, be freely given.

Id at 871, 993 P.2d at 1203 quoting Smith v. Great Basin Grain Co., 98 Idaho 266, 272, 561 P.2d 1299 (1977) and Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962).

Appellant sought to add claims of breach of contract and tortious interference of contract to the action for writ of mandate and action for judicial review against Respondents. The district court correctly noted that leave to amend must be freely given. Yet the district court denied Appellant's motions to amend on the basis that adding such matters would "add a multitude of new issues, would add new parties, and would delay resolution of the critical question; that is the validity of the ordinance that Mayor Dale purportedly vetoed...." See Reporter's Transcript of May 20, 2005, hearing, p. 30, Ins. 1-4. The court's denial of Appellants motion was explicitly based upon the case of Hinkle v. Winey, 126 Idaho 993, 895 P.2d 594 (Ct. App. 1995). However, Hinkle v. Winey does not support the district court's decision.

In *Hinkle v. Winey*, the district court denied a motion made prior to trial to add causes of action for unlawful entry, assault, battery, conversion, false imprisonment and wrongful possession to an action to compel the conveyance of real property pursuant to an alleged contract of sale. In affirming the district court's denial of the motion to amend, the Idaho Court of Appeals stated:

The amendment sought by the Hinkles was to state causes of action based upon events that occurred a year or more after the events giving rise to formation of the disputed agreement that was the subject of the original complaint and counterclaim. The evidence that would be offered on the proposed new claims would be entirely different from that necessary for the original causes of action. The proposed amendment would have added parties and opened up new avenues of discovery, almost certainly requiring a delay of the trial. In addition, there has been no showing of any prejudice to the Hinkles from the district court's determination that the new issues would best be resolved in a separate action.

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