UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-18-2008

Goodman Oil Co. v. Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34284

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Goodman Oil Company's Notice of Appeal is untimely because it was filed more than fortytwo (42) days after the District Court entered the final order adjudicating all remaining claims in this litigation. Even if timely filed, Goodman Oil Company's appeal is moot because the relief requested against the City of Nampa has been granted. Additionally, the claims Goodman Oil Company sought to add against Duro-Bilt have been fully litigated in separate litigation therefore Goodman Oil Company's appeal of the District Court's denial of its motions to amend, is also moot.

If this Court has jurisdiction, the District Court correctly dismissed Duro-Bilt for Goodman Oil Company's failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted because Goodman Oil Company's Petition for Writ of Mandate and Petition for Judicial Review only stated claims and sought relief against the City of Nampa. Likewise, the District Court correctly denied Goodman Oil Company's attempts to add parties and unrelated contract and tort claims to its Petitions. Finally, the District Court correctly awarded Duro-Bilt its attorney fees and costs.

Goodman Oil Company should not be awarded attorney fees and costs on appeal. Duro-Bilt should be awarded attorney fees and costs.

ARGUMENT

1. GOODMAN OIL COMPANY'S NOTICE OF APPEAL IS UNTIMELY AND SHOULD BE DISMISSED.

(a) Legal Standards for Timeliness of Appeal

A timely appeal must be filed 42 days after the entry of final order adjudicating all the claims and controversies. I.A.R. 14(a); *Baker v. Idaho*, 142 Idaho 411, 418, 128 P.3d 948, 955 (Ct. App. 2005). The failure to timely file a notice of appeal "shall be jurisdictional and shall cause automatic dismissal of such appeal... upon the motion of any party, or upon the initiative of the Supreme Court." I.A.R. 21; *Baker v. Idaho*, 142 Idaho at 418, 955 (citing *Walton, Inc. v. Jensen*, 132 Idaho

716, 719, 979 P.2d 118, 121 (Ct. App. 1999)).

Idaho Appellate Rule 14 requires that an appeal from the district court must be made by physically filing a notice of appeal with the clerk of the "district court within 42 days" of any judgment, order or decree. The time for an appeal will be extended by the filing of "a timely motion which, if granted, could affect any findings of fact, conclusions of law or any judgment in the action." I.A.R. 14(a). However, the filing of a motion for costs or attorney fees, or an objection to such a motion, does not extend the time to appeal a judgment. I.A.R. 14(a); (fn2) *State ex rel. Moore v. Lawson*, 105 Idaho 164, 165, 667 P.2d 267, 268 (Ct. App. 1983). The failure to file an appeal within the 42-day time period is jurisdictional and will result in immediate dismissal of the case. I.A.R. 21.

Walton, Inc. v. Jensen, 132 Idaho at 719.

Whether an instrument is an appealable order or judgment must be determined by its content and substance, and not by its title. As a general rule, a final judgment is an order or judgment that ends the lawsuit, adjudicates the subject matter of the controversy, and represents a final determination of the rights of the parties. It must be a separate document ... that on its face states the relief granted or denied.

Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd., 137 Idaho 850, 867, 55 P.3d 304, 321 (2002) (citing Idah-Best, Inc. v. First Security Bank of Idaho, 99 Idaho 517, 519, 584 P.2d 1242 (1978), Davis v. Peacock, 133 Idaho 637, 991 P.2d 362 (1999), Hunting v. Clark County School Dist. No. 161, 129 Idaho 634, 931 P.2d 628 (1997), I.R.C.P.

58(a)).

See also Watson v. Watson, 144 Idaho 214, 159 P.3d 851, 854 (2007); Deeds v. Regence Blueshield of Idaho, 143 Idaho 210, 211-212, 141 P.3d 1079, 1081 (2006); Scaggs v. Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Company, 141 Idaho 114, 117, 106 P.3d 440 (2005) ("[I]n this case there were no issues left after the district court's ruling."); Eastern Idaho Economic Development Council v. Lockwood Packing Corp. Idaho, 139 Idaho 492, 495-496, 80 P.3d 1093 (2003) ("Order constitutes the final appealable judgment because it struck [plaintiff's] cross-claim and third-party complaint and denied [plaintiff's] Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. These were the two remaining issues that neither [previous order] resolved.").

The general rule is that if an order or judgment ends the suit, adjudicates the subject matter of the controversy, and represents a final determination of the rights of the parties, the instrument constitutes a final judgment.

Davis v. Peacock, 133 Idaho at 641; Scaggs v. Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Company, 141 Idaho at 117; Eastern Idaho Economic Development Council v. Lockwood Packing Corp. Idaho, 139 Idaho at 495-496.

(b) Goodman Oil Company's Notice of Appeal Was Untimely

The District Court's November 7, 2006, Order was a final, separate order that adjudicated all the remaining issues in controversy "and represented a final determination of the rights of the parties. It ended the suit." *Equal Water Rights Assn. v. City of Coeur d'Alene*, 110 Idaho 247, 249, 715 P.2d 917 *on reh'g* (1986); *id.*

As is clear from the cases cited herein, Idaho Courts have liberally construed and read together Rules 54(a) and 58(a), and applied the Rules in accordance with the longstanding standard – used by Idaho Courts both before and after the amendment of Rule 58(a) -- as follows,

The general rule is that if an order or judgment ends the suit, adjudicates the subject matter of the controversy, and represents a final determination of the rights of the parties, the instrument constitutes a final judgment.

Davis v. Peacock, 133 Idaho at 641; Watson v. Watson, 159 P.3d at 854; Scaggs v. Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Company, 141 Idaho at 117; Eastern Idaho Economic Development Council v. Lockwood Packing Corp. Idaho, 139 Idaho at 495-496; see also I.R.C.P. 1(a) (The Rules "shall be liberally construed to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action and proceeding.").

Cases that reference the "separate document" language of Rule 58(a) have not been decided based on how many pieces of paper were in the record. *Hunting v. Clark County School District* 161, 129 Idaho 634, 931 P.2d 628 (1996) (*reh'g den.* 1997); In the Matter of Universe Life Insurance, 144 Idaho 751, 171 P.3d 242, 246-248 (2007); Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co. Ltd., 137 Idaho at 868-869. Rather, in those cases, the instrument in question failed to finally determine all the rights of the parties. Id. That is not the case here; the November 7, 2006, Order resolved all remaining controversy raised by Goodman Oil Company's Petitions.

As of November 7, 2006, the only issue left for the District Court's determination was the amount of attorney fees and costs. *Id.* (Goodman Oil Company filed its request for fees and costs on November 20, 2006 (R. 7). The District Court granted Goodman Oil Company's request on January 18, 2007. (Tr. Jan. 18, 2007 pp. 41-43.)) The time for filing an appeal of the November 7, 2006, order and all preceding orders expired no later than December 19, 2006, and could only be extended if Goodman Oil Company timely filed a motion affecting the substantive decision and order of the Court. *Walton, Inc. v. Jensen*, 132 Idaho at 719. While Goodman Oil Company did file a Motion for

Reconsideration, Goodman Oil Company's Motion was untimely because it was filed after December 19, 2006; therefore, it could not extend the time for filing an appeal. (R. 8, Register of Actions Report.) *Walton, Inc. v. Jensen*, 132 Idaho at 720 ("A trial court cannot unilaterally extend the time to file an appeal by simply attaching the term 'final judgment' to a document."); *see also Equal Water Rights Assn. v. City of Coeur d'Alene*, 110 Idaho 247, 249, 715 P.2d 917 *on reh'g* (1986) (the court's earlier order, which included a comprehensive adjudication and represented a final determination of the parties' rights was the final judgment in the case; the subsequent document entitled "final judgment" was not).

The District Court clearly intended that its November 7, 2006, order be treated as a separate order, which order finally adjudicated the remaining issues in the case.² Liberally construing Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 58(a) and applying the finality standard used by the Idaho Courts, the November 7, 2006, order was a final appealable order. *Davis v. Peacock*, 133 Idaho at 641; *Watson v. Watson*, 159 P.3d at 854; *Scaggs v. Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Company*, 141 Idaho at 117; *Eastern Idaho Economic Development Council v. Lockwood Packing Corp. Idaho*, 139 Idaho at 495-496.

The District Court's November 7, 2006, order is titled "Memorandum Decision on Judicial Review and Order." (R. 100.) The District Court set forth its findings, conclusions and analysis on pages 1-11, then in a separate section clearly delineated as "Order," entered its order. (R. 100-111.) The District Court clearly intended that its order be entered separate and apart from its decision and that the order should be treated as an appealable order under Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 54(a)

² Indeed, this Court has dismissed as untimely a Notice of Appeal from a "Memorandum Decision and Order" filed more than 42 days from said Decision and Order. See Zokan Aff. at \P 2, Ex. A-1, attached to Duro-Bilt's Brf. in Support of Motions to Suspend/Dismiss filed on Jan. 14, 2008, as Exhibit H.

and 58(a). (See R. 100-111; and see R. 7, Register of Actions; Tr. Jan. 18, 2007 p. 2, p. 44-45); Spreader Specialists, Inc. v. Monroc, Inc., 114 Idaho 15, 19, 752 P.2d 617 (Ct. App. 1987). The District Court further treated the case as finally determined by closing the case on November 7, 2006, (R. 7, Register of Actions Report), and then hearing the attorney fees claims; and, by further noting on the record that the case before it had concluded. (Tr. Jan. 18, 2007 p. 2, p. 44-45.)

Indeed, even Goodman Oil Company treated the November 7, 2006, order as a final order. Goodman Oil Company filed its request for attorney fees and costs arguing that it achieved a successful result in the litigation and was the prevailing party in the case. (*See* Tr. Jan. 18, 2007 p. 15 ll. 12-22.)

2. IF GOODMAN OIL COMPANY'S NOTICE OF APPEAL IS TIMELY, THE APPEAL IS MOOT.

(a) Legal Standard for Mootness

"[P]rior precedent and the court system's constitutionally based inability to adjudicate disputes before a justiciable controversy" preclude the Court from deciding anything but justiciable legal claims. *Davidson v. Wright*, 143 Idaho, 616, 621, 151 P.3d 812, 817 (2006). Mootness is a subcategory of justiciability. *Webb v. Webb*, 143 Idaho 521, 148 P.3d 1267, 1270 (2006).

This court has consistently ruled that an appeal will be dismissed where only a moot question is involved. Logic and reason dictate therefrom that that this court need not consider a moot issue on appeal even though it may retain jurisdiction of the case to consider other issues which remain viable and not moot.

State v. Boise City, 95 Idaho 380, 384, 509 P.2d 1301 (1973). "Mootness applies when an appellant lacks a legal interest in the outcome ... when a favorable judicial decision would not result in any relief ... [and when] a judicial determination will have [no] practical effect on the outcome." *Fenn v*,

Noah 142 Idaho 775, 779, 133 P.3d 1240, 1244 (2006).

The controversy alleged by Goodman Oil Company's Petitions "has ceased to exist and any decision by this Court would be without effect and a meaningless gesture to the case at bar." *Tryon v. Baker*, 94 Idaho 222, 223, 485 P.2d 964 (1971); *see also Koch v. Canyon County*, 145 Idaho 158, 177 P.3d 372, 377 (2008). Goodman Oil Company has achieved everything it asked for; there is no remedy left to award. Consequently, Goodman Oil Company's appeal "does not present a real and substantial controversy that is capable of being concluded through judicial decree of specific relief." *State v. Rogers*, 140 Idaho 223, 226-227, 91 P.3d 1127 (2004).

(b) Goodman Oil Company's Petition for Writ of Mandate is Moot.

Goodman Oil Company's underlying Petition for Writ of Mandate sought an order requiring the City of Nampa to publish Ordinance No. 3374. (R. 11.) The requested relief has been granted: Ordinance No. 3374 was published. (*See* R. 85; R. 100.)

(c) Goodman Oil Company's Petition for Judicial Review is Moot.

Goodman Oil Company's Petition for Judicial Review sought judicial review of the easement reservation language contained in the ordinance. (R. 11.) This too has been resolved in accordance with Goodman Oil Company's Petition: the challenged easement language was reviewed and removed from the ordinance, and 1st Avenue South has been vacated in accordance with Goodman Oil Company's demands. (R. 85; R. 100.)

(d) Goodman Oil Company's Contract and Tort Claims Against Duro-Bilt are Moot.

Goodman Oil Company's appeal regarding the District Court's grant of Duro-Bilt's Motion to Dismiss and denial of Goodman Oil Company's attempts to add Bart McKnight as a party, and add its contract and tort claims against Duro-Bilt is also moot because Goodman Oil Company has **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 16** been given the opportunity to fully litigate its contract and tort claims against Duro-Bilt and Bart McKnight in a separate case, which is also pending on Goodman Oil Company's separate appeal in Supreme Court Docket No. 34797. The claims have been litigated; they cannot be litigated again because such re-litigation would be barred by res judicata and collateral estoppel. *Watkins v. Peacock*, --- P.3d. ---, 2008 WL 1960332 *2-3 (May 7, 2008); *Navarro v. Yonkers*, 144 Idaho 882, 173 P.3d 1141, 1144 (2007).

'Under principals of claim preclusion, a valid final judgment rendered on the merits ... is an absolute bar to a subsequent action between the same parties on the same claim.' *Hindermarsh v. Mock*, 138 Idaho 92, 94, 57 P.3d 803, 805 (2002). Collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, may be applied to prior judgments, estopping a person from arguing a finding or verdict that has already been rendered.

Navarro v. Yonkers, 173 P.3d at 1144.

Goodman Oil Company's separate contract and tort litigation (1) involved the same parties Goodman Oil Company sued and sought to join in this case, Duro-Bilt and Bart McKnight; (2) included the same contract and tort claims related to the Vacation Agreement and Duro-Bilt's expressed disagreement with limited access that Goodman Oil Company sought to add to its Petitions in this case, and said issues were decided in the separate litigation; and, (3) has been fully litigated and final judgment issued by the District Court. *Watkins v. Peacock*, 2008 WL 1960332 *2-3; *Navarro v. Yonkers*, 173 P.3d at 1144.

This Court need not decide whether these claims should be litigated as part of Goodman Oil Company's claims against the City of Nampa. Goodman Oil Company's contract and tort claims having been raised and finally decided in a separate case, present no judicial controversy in this appeal.

(e) Exceptions to the Mootness Doctrine do not Apply to Goodman Oil Company's Appeal.

"[T]here is no possibility of collateral legal consequences imposed on the person raising the issue ... the challenged conduct is [not] likely to evade judicial review ... and [does not] raise[] concerns of substantial public interest." *Ameritel Inns v. Greater Boise Auditorium*, 141 Idaho 849, 851-852, 119 P.3d 624 (2005); *Ellibee v. Ellibee*, 121 Idaho 501, 503, 826 P.2d 462 (1992), *Robinson v. Bodily*, 97 Idaho 199, 200, 541 P.2d 623 (1975). The controversy at the heart of Goodman Oil Company's Petition is not alive; Goodman Oil Company's claims have been fully resolved by subsequent orders of the District Court and actions by the City of Nampa; and/or by the litigation decided in the contract and tort litigation, which appeal is currently before this Court in Supreme Court Docket No. 34797. *Id.*

3. IF THE COURT GETS TO THE MERITS OF GOODMAN OIL COMPANY'S APPEAL, THE COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE DISTRICT COURT'S DISMISSAL OF DURO-BILT AND DENIAL OF GOODMAN OIL COMPANY'S MOTIONS TO AMEND.

(a) Dismissal of Duro-Bilt

The District Court correctly dismissed Duro-Bilt from Goodman Oil Company's Petition for Writ of Mandate to require the City of Nampa to publish Ordinance No. 3374 and Petition for Judicial Review of the City's inclusion of a 50' easement in Ordinance No. 3374 for failing to state a claim against Duro-Bilt upon which relief could be granted. (R. 82.) In reviewing a motion to dismiss, a court draws all inferences in favor of the nonmoving party and determines whether a request for relief has been stated. *Young v. City of Ketchum*, 137 Idaho 102, 104, 44 P.3d 1157 (2002). Goodman Oil Company's Petitions stated claims and requested relief against the City of Nampa: (1) only a City has the authority to adopt an ordinance; (2) only a mayor has the authority to veto an ordinance; (3) only a City has the authority to cause publication of an ordinance. The

District Court correctly recognized that it must make all inferences in Goodman Oil Company's

favor, (Tr. May 5, 2005, p. 10 ll. 19-21), and after doing so, determined that Goodman Oil

Company's Petitions could prove no set of facts that would entitle Goodman Oil Company to relief

against Duro-Bilt. (Tr. May 5, 2005 p. 14 ll. 7-17). As the District Court explained:

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